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PROCEEDINGS

o

THE CLERK: This is CR 03-345, United States of
America versus;John Rizzo and Carol Rizzo. Time for plea
hearing. |

Cgunéel, pleasge announce.

ME. GRDVES; On behalf of United States, Edward
Groves, along %ith Mark Ocdulio and Larry Wszalek.

I ‘

THE #OURT: Thank vyou.

MR. éAPLAN: Good afternoon, your Honor. Alan
Caplan on beha?f of Carol Rizzo and John Rizzo, who are
present in cou?t and in custody, your Honor.

THE ?OURT: A1l right. Thank you.

Thes% plea agreements call for cooperation. Is
there any reasgn why this matter should be under seal?

ME.. bROVES: No, there is not, your Heonor. In
fact, in Dfd@f to pérform the cooperation, it needs to be
unsealed and ﬁn a public menner. We believe there is no
threat in ter@s of safety to the individuals. This ig a
matter that iﬁvolves not crimes of violence, but crimes of
a financial néture that do not warrant sealing of the court
or the plea aéreements.

THEECDURT: Counsel.

MR.;CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor. I have discussed
this with my %lients, and both of them understand that, and

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

B

Dl:45:12F

0L:45:20F

01:45:37E

01,:45:511

Dl:4E6:02




B3/11/2884

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

B3 2

2 THR59E192A . EILL BEMSOM PAGE  B5S
5

Mr. -- depending on, of course, the Court's ruling on Carol

Rizzo and whether or not she's going to be released,

Mr. John Rizzo is prepared and understands that even down
at CCA, if this does become public and folks are aware, if
he perceives any kind of thfeaﬁ,he will let folks know and
let the government know, and T would do likewise, your
Honor. He would prefer not to be pul in protective custody
at this point in time.

THE COURT: Yesg, I would imagine that. I just
note that —--

You may be seated.

MR. CAPLAN: Thank you;

THE COURT: -- that one of the reguirements for
my consideration of substantial cooperation is number four,
injury suffered or any danger or risk of injury to the
defendant or his family resulting from his asslistance. The
centerpiece of this entire plea is the cooperation, and,
you know, I don't want to mislead anybody by allowing a
plea, where I find that there will be some issues that T
will raise on whether or not there has been substantial
cooperation.

First of all, I am going to ask counsel,

Mr . Groves and Mr. Caplan, if your clients had been
convicted of what is set forth in the Indictment, has the

relevant conduct been considered in the plea agreement?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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ME.. GRDVES} veg, it hasz, youy Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

ME . CAPTAN: If I may, your Honor, yes, wé
discussed that, and realized that there were two ways of
going. One, we could try and ocutline and agree upon the
relevant conduct, and then we felt that given the
complexity of this ag a Financial case, and in particular,
the tax loss being the driving force in gentencing, that we
would leave it open to both sides to present evidence for
the Court's consideration on all of those, rather than
foreclosing it.

THE COURT: Well, there is a statutory cap, if I
understand, of seven years; correct?

MR. GROVES: That is aétually six vears with
respect to Carol Rizze, and 14 years as to -—-

THE COURT: All right. I must have -- let me
leok at this again.

MR QROVEES: Mr. Rizzo would be pleading to two
five-year felonies, one one-year misdemeanor, and one
three-vear felony.

THE CQURT: Okay-

ME. GROVES: And Mrs. Rizzo is pleading to one
five-year felony conspiracy count and one one-year
misdemeanor count, all contained in the Indictment.

THE COURT: ©Okay. and all of theose statutory

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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maximums will allow for the relevant conduct which was
caused in this case; correct?

MR. GROVES: That's correct, your HOnor.

THE COURT: And can you, Mr. Groves, then, today
estimate as closely as you can what the relevant conduct
would be for Mr. Rizzo?

MR. GROVES: Under the guidelines, your Honor, we
belicve that the representation of tax loss would arrive at
a sentence in the range of four to 8ix years of
incarceration, which is well within the statutory cap. The
driving force is the unreported income which is contained
in the factual basis, which is over $4,000,000 that's
attributable in the factual basis. We are open to
litigating it at sentencing with respect to what the actual
tax loss, absent deductions and that sort of thing, would
be.

THE COURT: And so your experts here, in
conjunction with you, have determined that that amount is
what you could prove by a preponderance of tne evidence at
the time of sentencing?

ME. GROVES: Thalt's correct, your Honor.

THE CDURT! Thank you.

Mr, Caplan.

MR. CAPLAN: Your Honor, yves. In terms of gross

income, we would say that that's substantially the case,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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and we are guite confident that there is substantial
deductions that would come from that which would bring it
down from the maximumlthat Mr. Groves just spoke of.

THE COURT: OQkay. And also part of the
Indictment included perjury before the Federal Grand Jury,
obstruction of justice. Each Df.those would bring
additional potential guideline range monthe or vears, would
it not?

MRE. GROVES: That's corrxect, your Honor. That's
why we were trying to come up with our best guess under the
guidelines as to what everything, including enhancements
would be as a guess. Obviously that is something that may
vary, depending on what the uwltimate presentence report
recommends .

THE COURT: Well, I understand that, too, but to
me, it's not really -- it doesn't require a rocket surgeon
to figure ocut how many enhancements there would be for
perjury before a Grand Jury. There certainly is geing to
be a guideline range on oshstruction of justice; right?

ME. GROVES: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. So in order to properly
ascertain what the guideline range would be, taking those
rwo into account, what adjustment upward did you determine
was necassary?

MR. CROVES: In termg of Mr. Caplan and our

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COQURT
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discussions with respect to enhancements or upward
adjustments, vou know, we're looking at --
MR . CAPLAN: Well, if T may, Mr. Groves.
MR. GROVES: -- ultimately several levels, your

Honor, but the actual level has not vet been determined.

THE COURT: Well, when you say "several levels,”®
iz that still withinlthe six-year max?

MR. GROVES: Tt is our understanding that that is
the case. We've both done analyses under the gquidelines,
and T believe we're not off on that.

THE COURT: Well, it's very ilmportant, because I
don't want either of you, and in particular the Rizzos, to
get a misimpression, even though you've been acting in good
faith, as to what the guideline levels are, bacause that
will certainly affect the sentence that they receive. We
will go through that, butlthe astimate zhould be high, as
opposed to low, so that there ig no misunderstanding today,
because a couple of things could happen:

First of all, no matter how rmuch they cooperated,
T may not accept the plea agreement because it deoesn't
inelude the relevant conduct, and T may not also find that
their conduct ig substantial -- or their cooperation. You
have outlined it, I suppose, ag much as you can, and there
are a lot of conditions and a lot of bases for potential

breach and the consegquences of that, but I'm really not --

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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we'll get to that in a moment, but Mr. and Mrs., Rizzo need
to know today that it's centative.

ML . GROVES: That's correct, your HOnor.
Originally we had looked at it from a texrm of -- with
Mr. Rizzo of approximately elght years, but when we've gone
through this, Mr. Caplan belioves it's lower than that.

THE COQURT: WEll,hhave you discussed it with one
of the probation officers? That's what I would suggest you
do.

This is what we'll do: T'11l take the plea today,
wut then I'm going teo order both of you to meet with the
probation office to come up with a -- what they would
suggest to me would be the relevant conduct. Now that
doesn't mean I will accept it, but they are the experts and
the arm of the Court. Then, when that's presented to me, I
can tell both of vou and the Rizzos whether or not I find
that within the realm of my acceptance. O0f course I will
not early accept, but I can tell you at least that it's not
something that I would not accept.

wWe now need to talk akout the nature of the
substantial cooperation.

VR. CAPLAN: Your Honor, may I address the Court
with respect to the previous peoint for 2 moment?

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. CAPLAN: and of course, if the Court wishes

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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ta, I'll be happy to sit down with probation and work that
out.

what I did in going over this and explaining it
to the Rizzos was I prepared what I felt to be a worst-case
scenario sentencing situation, if you went to trial and
loet on evervy single count, and I came out with 11 vears
for Mr. Rizzo, and 7 years for‘Mrs. Rizz0o, based upon
conviction on all counts, enhancements for role in the
offense and enhancements for obstruction of justice, and I
ecarefully parsed out all of the obstruction and perjury

charges, to make sure all of the pozsible enhancements were

there.

In terms of the plea itself, the only
enhancement -- I don't see any enhancements for Mrs. Rizzo
being applicable, and possibly -- and on my regearch, there

would be no enhancement of Mr. Rizzo for role in the
offenge, on a careful parsing of the guidelines. AS far as
obstruction, there is at least an argument that T would
present to the Court thaﬁ since the conduct involving
obstruction is the identical conduct to the perjury charge,
that it would not constitute an additional enhancement for
obstruction of justice. Therefore, I feel for those
reasons, vour Honor, and felt comfortable in coming before
the Court and saying that this would be a plea that would

be, you know -- that all of the -- that the maxirmim

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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sentence would certainly accommodate what they were
pleading to.

THE COURT: Well, and that's axactly what I
wanted to hear, that you gave them the worst-case scenaric;
that would be that Mr. Rizzo -- that I sentence him to 1l
vears, based upeon the most significant, or 1'd say the most
cerious view by this Court of his conduct.

MR. CAPLAN: For-examﬁle —=

THE CQURT: It could be 1l years, which would be
the guideline range, although the statutory range is 16
years.

Okay.

MR. CAPLAN: In additien, your Honor, in that
calculation, for example, I took no deductions and things
of that nature. I took a maximum four levels for role in
the offenge. I tried to really paint a worst-case
gCcenario.

THE COURT: Okay. That's what T like to hear
from defenze counsel, because it is your pbligation,
although secondarily, and the government's obligation to
make sure that the defendants understand the worst-case
scenario.

ME. CAPLAN: Thank you, your Honor, Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. 8o we can go ahead, then,

having heard thatc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

12
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MR. GRQOVES: Thank you? your Honor.

THE COURT: T will tell you that in my view, that
would be the guideline or the maximum that I would impose
on Mr. Rizzo, understanding 1T could be 16 years. There
might be an upward départure for some reason or another.

Mrs. Rizzo is a little different, because as
vou've said, the maximum ghe could serve now 18 --

ME. GROVES: SixX years.

THE COURT: -- six years, and your calculation is
that it could be more than that if she had the worst-case
sicenaria.

MR. CAPLAN: That is correct.

THE COURT: And the "more than that" would bhe
seven years?

MR. CAPLAN: That's correct, your Honor.

THE COURT: Is that what I heaxd you --

WMR. CAPLAN: That's correct, your HoOnor.

THE COURT: All right. Then T will go ahead and
take the pleas based upon those representations made to the
Rizzos today, so that there is no misunderstanding at the
time of sentencing what they could have recaived, and that
they understand there have heen no promises by counsel or
the Court as to what their sentence will be.

MR. CAPLAN: That is also correct, and T also

told them that during the Courxit's plea inguiry, T would

UNITED STATESZ DISTRICT COURT

13

01:5&:04F

01:58:25F

Ql:88:33F

0L:58:44]

01:59:05



B3/11/ 2884

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Ba: 28 7HB596192A EILL BEMSOM PaGE

assume that the Court would advise them and I told them to
expect that the Court would advise that the Ceourt is not
bound by oux reoommendations,

THE COURT: ©Oh, vesg, I have a lengthy collocuy
with counsel -- or with the defendants.

Now let's talk about the cooperation. What is
the nature of the cooperation?

MR . CROVES: The nature in this case, your
Honor —-

M. CAPLAN: May I now express a concarn? Do we
want to put this part of the hearing on & cransceript that
anybody can access? I have no problem in discussing it
with wyour Henor, but I didn't know if thig was too much
detail. That's all.

THE COURT: Well, that's the cquestion I asked,
whether or not it should be under seal. Ordinarily they
are for the reason I stated, which ig one of the criteria
within 5K1.1. XNot only Will the transcript and these
proceedings be sealed, but if there is anyone in the
courtroom who should not be here, because it creates a
rigk, then I will ask politely that they remove themzelves
from the courtroom.

MR. GROVES: Well, we would obviously
respectfully cbject, your Ronor, with respect to that. The

plea is conditioned on it not being under seal and it being

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

14
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11 an open proceeding, because in order for them to cooperate
5| fully, it needs to be known that in fact the plea is being
1l entered. Now the exact precise‘cooperation iz something
4| that can be addressed --

THE QOURT: Let me see. Hold on for a second. 02:00:40F)
Why does it need to be known that the plea ig -- who needs

to know that?

o~

MR. GROVES: In order for the defendants -- in
g| order for deterrence across the United States. These

161 defendants have been involved with other individuals in a 02:00:54%
11| long, nationwide tax protester movement, for lack cof a

121 better word, your Honor. FoOY their cooperatieon, not only
13| deoes it involwve potentially tezstifying in othex upcoming
14| trials of other individuals across rhe United States, but
151 it also involves being known that in fact the pleas are 02101 :14F

16| peing entered, and they are acknowladging that they are --
17| that they have an obligation, like every other citizen, to
12| file tax returns and to not disregard the law, 1in contrast
19| te the preszentation which the Court had seen --

20 THE COURT: wWell, let me stob you for a second. 0Z:0L:34!

21 Tf that is, and I understand it ta be the partial
22| impetus for the government to enter into the plea

23| agreements, and that the government, and I theought

24| Mr. Caplan, were persuaded that there was no harm that

o5l coula eccur to their clients or family, then it will not be& |0z:01:3]

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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under zeal.

MR. CAPLAN: ‘mhat is coryect. I am not concerned
about harm, I just didn't know how deeply Mr. Groves wanted
to go into, you know, who specifically they were
cooperating against and that sort of thing.

THE COURT: I do, and I will tell you why ,
because again, I do not want any migunderstanding.

T'm very familiar with motions for downward
departure based upon cooperation, and some are acceptable
and seome are not. It reguires substantial cooperation.
Usually the most substantial cooperation, where there is
wvery little guestion about whether or not the individual
received that departure, is where they act as an informant
and they are at risk, where they agree to testify, which
places them at risk, and these T have no problem with.

Here we have the two people in this Indictment
that were considered the most culpable in this scheme, and
so I'm very anxious to know what you expect they are going
to give the United States Covernment as recorpanse for a
poasible substantially less egregioug sentence.

MR. CAPLAN: If I may, your Honor, something that
yvou just said triggered something in my mind: On that
basis, of course, I have no ocbhjection to Mr. Groves going
forward. The one thing I would like to clarify to your

Yonor is that while I say that Mr. Rizzo is not under any

UNTTED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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rigk in terms of -- he believes at the institution, or

Mrg. Rizzo, if the Court should releasgse her at his parents’
home, but that is not to suggest that there is no risk,
given whom he expects to be testifying against of
retaliation in some form. Tndead there may definitely be
that. I can go into it at another time, but the point is I
didn't want to concede or suggest to your Honor that there
ie no physical risk, in addition to the fact that they are
prepared and expect to tegtify in fromt of grand juries and
at trials.

THE COURT: Well, the one thing that we can do is
that this plea will be made public, however, the terms of
the cocperation will not.

MR. CAPLAN: Fair enough.

ME. GROVES: That's fine, your Honor.

MR. CAPLAN: That would be great, Yyour Honor.

THE COURT: But you both understand I need to
pursue what that will be.

Now is there anyone in the courtroom wha ghould
rnot be present for this presentation?

MR. CAPLAN: No, I don't think -- Jjust
Mr. Rizzo's parents are in here, and he has no problem with
that, your Honmor. T don't know any of the folks on that
gide of the <courtroomnm.

ME. GROVES: These are all representatives of the

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

PacE 17

02:03:39%

02:04:19P

02:04:281

02:04:37

02:04: 5




B3/11/2884

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

B3: 25 7E559619268 EILL BEMSOMN PAGE

18

government, your Honor, that are in the court.

THE COURT: And they are representatives of the
government in this caser

MR. GROVES: That's correct, vour Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Then this portion of the plea
hearing will remain under seal until further order of the
Court.

MR. CROVES: That's fine, your HORor.

(Tnterim proceedings transcribed and filed under

geal.)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: That is absolutely perifect.

All right. TFozr evarvbody in the courtroom, and
David, this portion of the hearing is not under smal .

Please, Mr. Caplan, bring your client forward.

ME.. CAPLAN:‘ Do you want John or Carol first,
please”

THE COURT: John.

MR . CAPLAN: John, please.

THE COURT: Please set forth your full name for
the record.

SEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: John Joseéph Rizzo.

THE COURT: I'm going to ask Mz. Fredlund to
place you under oath.

THE CLERK: Railse youl right hand.

Do you Swear or affirm that the testimony you're
about to give the Court ip the matter now pendilng before it

shall ke the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

PaGE
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truth?

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE CLERK: Thank yvou.

THE COURT: You understand now that you're under
oath?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'a.

THE COQURT: &nd if you make any false ztatements,
thogse statements could be used againgt vou in a separate
criminal proceeding for making false statements or for
perjury. Do you understand?

ﬁEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: How old are you?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I am 52 years old.

TYE COURT: How far did you go in gchool?

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZZO: Actually I completed high
school with a GED, and then went to the National Judicial
College in Reno, Nevada.

THE COURT: What's the National Judicial College?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIFZO: That's where all people go
who are judges in the State of Arizona to get judicial
education when they hold judicial post.

THE COURT: and your judiecial post was what?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQO: I was a hearing officer in
the Tolleson Justice Court and an Assistant City Magistrate

for the City of Tolleson.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: All right. Have you recently been or
are you now under the care of a doctor or psychiatrist?

DEFENDANT JOHN RTIZZ0: T am under the care of a
doctor right now, ves.

THE COURT: And for what?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: I have some heart
problems. While I was a2t CCA, they had some x-rays that
gshow a spot on my lung, which they're not going to
investigate any further. I am taking -- I'm not taking
today, but I'm under treatment for anxiety and depression,
and I've taken no medications today, so that I could be
totally alert and would have no problems with this plea
whatsoever. I made zsure of that, and I spoke with the
doctor -- excuse me, for one gecond —-

Wasg it vesterday that I saw Dr. Miller?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yesterday .

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yesterday. I want to be
accurate.

THE COURT: So have you in the last 24 hours
taken any medicine, pills, drugs, any kind of mood-altering
medication?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQO: No, ma'am, nothing.

THE COURT: 2All right. And yeour mind is clear
today?

DEFENDANT JOHIN RIZZO: Yes, it i=.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: Now have vou been hospitalized for
any kind of psychiatric probklem or emotional problem, or
any type of addiction?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Nothing with regard to
addiction, your Honor. No hospitalization. With regard to
psychiatric problems, I did have two emergency room vigits
for anxiety, which was kind of chest pain things.

THE CQURT: And was that recent?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: No, that was within the
last —-- I've been at CCA 10 monthsg, sc¢ I'm goling to say
within the last three years. That certainly is an
estimate, though.

THE COURT: Oh, ckay. So three vears ago you
were hogpitalized for anxiety?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Well, it was just an
emergency room visit.

THE COURT: That's what I'm asking vou.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: And released, yes.

THE CQURT: Okay. Fine.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: I was getfting chest pains.

THE COURT: All right. Fine.

Let me ask counsel, do either of you have any
raason to believe that Mr. Rizzo is not competent to enter
an informed plea today?

ME. CARPLAN: None whatscever, vour Honor.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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MR. GROVEZS: None whatscoever, your HoORor.

THE COURT: All right., I'wve been teld, and I
have the plea agreement in front of me, that vou wish to
plead guilty, pursuant te this plea agreemant.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: ‘Yes, ma 'am, that's
correct.

THE COURT: Iz that correct?

Now have you had a full opportunity to talk with
your attorney concerning what is contained in the
agreement, and particularly what the consedquenceg are of
pleading guilty, and pleading teo this plea agreement?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'am. We spent &
great part of vesterday with both myself and my wife at CCA
going through this.

THE COURT: A1l right.

MR. CAPLAN: In addition, your Honor, if I may,
this plea agreement went through numerous drafts, and there
were numerous communications and other meetings with both
Mr. and Mrs. Rizzo in regard to ﬁhe plea agreement, the
cerms of the plea agreement, and very careful word-by-word
analysis of both plea agreements with both defendants.

DEFENDANT JOHW RIZZO: and vour Honor, if I may
add, they were both not only read to us over the telephone,
but we alsc had possezzion of the plea agresments before

Mr. Caplan arxived vesterdayv to discuss them with us, so we

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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did have an opportunity tb read them before he came to talk
te us.

THE COURT: All right. I am satisfied --

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: So we are well aware --

THE CQURT: =-- based upon Mr. Rizzo's answers,
and based upon the thorough analysis that Mr. Caplan
conducted, that you are fully informed and fully competent
to enter a plea today.

Now before I accept the plea, I have to ask you
quite a bit about what vou did. Thig isg intended for me to
ascertain whether or not wvou can plead guilty, and whether
yvou can plead gullty pursuant to this plea agreement,
understanding, of course, that you must know the
consequences. I will be asking vou those questions, and if
you have any qquestion of me, please let me know or talk
with Mr. Caplan. Will vyou do that?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. Now I presume that you
kelieve that there ig some benefit to you in pleading
guilty, and pleading guilty pursuant te this plea
agreement?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do believe
there is some benefit to me in the long run, ves.

THE CQURT: All right. Whatever benefit you

believe exiszts is not the reason to mlead guilty.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: That is correct.

THE COQURT: You must plead guilty only if you are
guilty and for no other reason. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yeg, ma'am.

THE COQURT: 8o we éet the benefits aside.

211 right. You have certain rights, and I'm sure
Mr. Caplan has told you about them, under the Constitution
and the statutes of the United States Govermment. I'm
going to go over them with vou, each time asking you 1f wou
understand.

First of all, you're entitled to a speedy, public
trial on the charges which are contained in the Superseding
Indictment, and that is to occur in thies district.
Throughout that trial you are presumed innocent. That
meang that it's the government's obligation te prove vou
guilty bevond a reascnable doubt. You do not have to prove
vour innocence. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: Now yvou would be, at trial, in front
of a jury composed of 12 personsg, and they would have to
agree unanimously that you were guilty beyond a reasonable
doubt. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yesz, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: 2nd if there was a trial, your

attorney could crosz-examine the witnesses, and you could

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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present evidence on your own behalf, if vou chose to. Do
you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yeg, ma'am.

THE COURT: 2and of course you would be entitled
to be represented by counsel of your choice, but 1f wvou
could not afford counsel, counsel would be afforded and
paid for by the United States Govermment. Do you
undergtand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIEZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: All right. You would have the right
to confront the witnesses that the government presents. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'arm.

THE COURT: You would have the right to testity,
but only if you chose ta. If you decided not to, your
silence could net he uged against you. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yas, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: All right. ©Did you understand all of
those constitutional and statutory rights as 1 have set
them forth for vou?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yesg, ma'am, I did
understand everything that vou explained to me and I'm
familiar with it.

THE COURT: Okay. Now as I stated earlier,

because I need to determine what vou did, and whether or

TUMNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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not what yvou 4did, that is vour activities and conduct,
conetitutes the crimes to which you are pleading gulilty,
I'm geolng teo have to ask vou cquestions and vou will have to
answer thoge guestions fully and completely, even if thoze
guestions incriminate yvou. Do you ﬁnderstamd?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yesg, na'am.

THE COURT: 2and even if they tend to incriminate
vou. Do yvou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'arm.

THE COURT: So are vou willing, then, in entering
inte this plea and vour plea agreement, to waive your right
not to incriminate yourgelf?

DEFENDANT JQOHN RIZZ0: VYes, ma'am, I am,

THE COURT: Okay., Now as you know, you were
charged in the Indictment with a number of offenses, but
according to this Indictment -- or to this plea agreement,
vou are pleading to a viclation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 317 -- 371, Conspiracy to Defraud the United
States. It is punishable by a fine of 3250,000; 2 maximum
term in prison of five vears, or both; and a three-yvear
term of supervised releagse. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: You are alzo pleading to a vioclation
of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623, False

Declarations Before a Grand Jury of the United States,
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punishable by a fine of %250,000; a maximum term of
imprisonment of five wears, or both; and three years of
superviged release. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: And you are pleading to a wvioclation
of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7203, Willful
Failure to File a Federal Income Tax Return. That is 2
misdemeanor offense and ig punishable by a fine of
$£250,000; a texm of imprisonment not to exceed one year, or
moth; and a term of supervised release of one year. Do you
understand®?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

Can I ask my attorney a gquestion very quickly?

THE COURT: Yes.

(Defendant John Rizzo confers with Mr. Caplan.)

MR. CAPLAN: Just to clarify, your Honor,

Mr. Rizzo wanted to know that while this is for the 2000
return, I explained to him that relevant conduct will
include all of the years in the Indietment. It will not
be -—— I mean in the conspiracy, and not be limited to the
single vear in which he would be pleading.

| THE COQURT: Thank you, Mr. Caplan.

vou understand what Mr. Caplan has sald is that
although this involves one particular return, the total

amount that you could have defrauded the government for

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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that return may be much less than all of the fraud in which
you engaged and the cost to the government, and I must
consider all, the total amount of fraud in which you
engaged. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yesg, ma'am, I do. T just
wanted to be sure that I was ¢lear in my mind that the
failure to file was limited to the 2000 tax vear, as you
were explaining it to me, without taking into consideration
the relevant conduct. I understcood what Mr. Caplan told me
and it's c¢lear now.

THE COURT: Okay. You understand what relevant
conduct is?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: I'm not sure why you agked that
question, because if vou understood the relevant conduct, T
want o make sure you don't misunderstand that relevant
conduct is often much broader than the particular offense
to which you'zre pleadihgi Do yvou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: I understand.

THE COURT: The important thing is, for my
purposes in sentencing, I can find the relevant conduct
based upon what I determine on my own to beliewve, with the
assgsigtance of the probation office, and I could sentence
vou to the maximum consecutive for all of these crimes,

which is 16 wyears. Do vou understand?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I understand.

THE CQURT: Okay. AaAnd this particular
misdemeancr also includesg, as some statutes do, that you
would have to pay the costs of the prosecution. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: 2nd that;s heen explained to you?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZOQ: Yeas.

THE COURT: Now vyou are also charged with a
violation of Title 26, United States Code, Sectlon 7206 (2).
Aiding and Assisting in the Preparation and Presentation of
a False and Fraudulent Income Tax Return, a felony offense,
and that is punishable by $250,000; a term of imprisonment
of three vears, or both; and a three-year term of
superviged release. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: ¥Yes, ma'am, I do.

THR COURT: Now the Court can sentence you
concurrently, or it can sentence you consecutively, which
means one after the other. The total amount of time that
you could receive if I sentenced you consecutively, and if
I sentenced vou to the maximum term, is 16 years. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: You are alszo regulired to make

reatitution aceording to the law, and that's determined by

TNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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the probation office. While you are on supervised release,
that will have to be paid. Do vou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: &nd also the fine. I must order yvou
to pay the fine, the costs of progecution, if it's
permitted, the costg of supervised release, unlesszs I
determine vou don't have the ability to pay. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: Now the supervised release here for
each crime either constitutes a couple of years, or one
yvear, or three yvears. All of your supervised releasge would
be concurrent, so for all of the crimesg it would be three
vears total. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yesg, ma'am.

THE CQURT: &nd you understand that supervised
release is somewhat like parcole, but parole has been
abolished by the federal government. It means, however,
that there will be restrictions on vour reléase, and if you
violate any of those restrictions, then you could be
re-incarcerated, and the amount of time you could spend in
re-incarceration is two yvears. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'aim.

THE COURT: Now I am, as you know, required to

follow the sentencing guidelines, and I know you've talked

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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about that with Mr. Caplan, becausge both of you have
menticned that; is that correct?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZOQ: Yes, ma'am, it is.

THE COURT: The first office that engages in the
final determination of what the sentencing guidelines are
ig the probation office, and they seek information from you
and from Mr. Groves, and any other relevant information,
and they will establish what the guldeline range ig Ifrom
their perspective. You will have an opportunity to
chalienge that guideline range, and the government will,
too, before T make a decision. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COURT: 2All right. Despite what that
gquideline range is, you understand that I have the right to
impose a sentence above the guidelines --

DEFENDANT JOHMN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am, I understand.

THE COURT: =-- up to 16 vears.

I could also, as is contemplated in the plea
agreement, reduce your sentence or guideline sentence. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yeas, ma'am.

THE COURT: aAnd I'm the one who will make that
decision. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: 211 right. S0 you undersgtand that

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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1] whatever estimate vou have heard as to what your sentence
2| will be is only an estiﬁate, and whoever gave you that

3| estimate could be wrong. Do you understand?

4 DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yeg, ma'am, I do.

5 THE COURT: So no one ¢an give you an assurance 02:131:15F
6| today, or any time before sentencing, as to what your

71 guideline range will be or what your sentence will be. Do
8| vou understand?

9 DEFENDANT JOKN RIZZO: Yes, I do.
10 THE COURT: I'm going to now ask Mr. Caplan once 02:31:32F
11| again to tell the Court and tell you whether or not he

12| eztimated what vour guildeline range would be.

13 Did you?
14 MR. CAPLAN: Yes, I did, vour Honor.
15 THE COURT: And.when you did, did you tell 02:31:41F

16| Mr. Rizzo that it was only an estimate?

17 MR, CAPLAN:' Yes, I certainly did.

18 THE COURT: 2And vou agree?

1% DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I do.

20 THE COURT: All right. 8o you understand, if 02:31:51¢

21| your sentence is different from what you have expected,
22t based upon what you have been told or what you know

23| independently, you could be wrong?

24 DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: 2Absolutely.

25 THE COURT: And if the sentence that I impose is 02:372:081

UONITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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different from what yvou expect Eoday, or what you think
yvou're going to agree to, you will have no right to
withdraw from the plea and the plea agreement, unless my
gsentence is not allowed by law. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, I dd+

THE COURT: Okay. Now you have the original
agreement in front of you?

MR. CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: 2nd I have a copy of it. I know vou
signed the agreement; correct?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, I did.

THE COURT: and did you read it before you signed
it? |

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yeg, ma'am, I did.

THE CDURTQ Did vou discuss it with vour attorney
hefore you aigned 1t?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And does it comprise your full
understanding of your agreement with the United States
Government?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am, it does.

THE COURT: 21l right. Now has anvone cffered
yvou any tvpe of inducements or threatened you ox forced you
te, first of all, plead guilty?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: No, ma'am, no one hasg.

TNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: 2and with respect to entering into
this plea agreement, has anyone forced you to enter into
this plea agreement?

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZZO: No, ma'amn.

THE COURT: And you understand, too, that you
will waive vour right to appeal within this plea agreement?

ME. CAPLAN: No, your Honor, we have not walved
our right to appeal. Very specifically in the plea
agreement is a provision, yvour Honor, if we contest the
igsues of relevant conduct, of role in the offense, or
enhancements for obstruction, that would not in itself Dbe
lack of acceptance of responsibility and we would have a
right to appeal those limited things.

I'm sorry, I'll find that particular --

THE COURT: No, I'm looking at it now.

MR. CAPLAN: I'm sSorry.

THE COURf: That's fine.

MR. GROVES: FPage §.

THE COURT: The first sentence seems inconsistent
with the second. The first sentence 2aye:

"mhe defendant is waiving his right te raise on

appeal or collaterally attack any matter

pertaining to this prosecution and sentence if
the sentence impeosed is congistent with the terms

of this agreement.”

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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MR. CAPLAN: And that would be true, your Honor.
The second sgentence ig a limitation on that general waiver
for the particular iteme that are specifically identified
in the second sentence.

THE COURT: Well, T guess 1f I were to have
written it, I would say "any matter, except what i1s set
forth in this section,® but everybody understands what that
means; okay?

ME. CAPLAN: I think vour Honor may be correct in
terms of wording, but I think -——

THE COURT: Just plain old syntax. I was caught
by the first sentence, and T didn't read the rest.

Okay. Now you have retained your right to
challenge and to appeal the guideline computations as to
the amount of tax logz. Do you undergtand that?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yez, ma'am.

THE CQURT: The cgrouping of offenses. Do you
understand that?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: Your role in the offense. Do you
understand that? |

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: That will not constitute a breach of
the plea agreement, and you can do that. Do you understand

that?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT JOHIN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: You need to understand now, and I'm
gure Mr. Caplan may have told you this, but let me tell you
that we could have a hearing on that. I will make the
determination of what the tax lossz ig, what the grouping of
the offenses ig and what the role in the offenses is, and
it will be my final‘determinatidn. Do yvou understand that?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZQ: Yes, ma'am,

THE COURT: You can present evidence, and that
determination isg made by the standard of preponderance of
the evidence, not proof bevond a reasonable doubt. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZzZ0: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: Sometimes clear and convincing
evidence applies, which is in between prepconderance and
proof beyend a reasonable doubt, but we'll leave that for
later.

MR. CAPLAN: I have also, your Honor, advised
both Mr. and Mrs. Rizzo that even with respect to appeal,
generally the Court's findings of fact are accepted on
appeal, unless clearly errcnecus, and that's a rare
occurrence by an appellate court. They generally restyict
rhemselves to whether the guidelines were properly applied.

THE CQOURT: And I appreciate that, thank you.

That ig absolutely, unequivocally the law. There will be

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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14§ findings of fact, but if I made a mistake on the law, then
2| the Ninth Circuit can review it de novo, which means all

3| eover again. Is that clear?

4 DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes.

5 THE COURT: Okav. The government has a right to 02:37:130
6| appeal on any issue, and you're waiving the right for an

7| award of attorney's fees or other litigation expenses that
81 may be available pursuant to public law, and that is

9y federal law; iz that correct?
1ic DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yez, ma'am. DZ:37:36E
11 THE COURT: Okay. Now we have talked about this
12| guite a bit, but let me make it clear: If I reject this
13| agreement for any reason, other than I am rejecting the

14| agreement kbetween vou and the United States Gowvernment, and
15| that rejection iz legal, vou will not have an opportunity 02:33:04F

16| to withdraw. Do you understand?

17 DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I'm not =--

18 THE COURT: I'l11l explain it.

1% DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: . Okay. Please.

20 THE COURT: The agreemeént has provisieons in it, 02:38:137)

21] and they are stipulated between vyou and Mr. Groves.

22 DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yesz.

23 THE COURT: If I do not accept the agreement,

24| because I do not agree to your stipulations, then vou will

251 hawve a right to withdraw —- DZ:38:350)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I understand.

THE CQURT: -~ and go to trial, or renegotiate,
whatever you wish. If I do not accept this agreement, and
that has neothing to do with vour étipulations with the
govarnment, vyou do not have a right to withdraw. Do you
understand now?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am, 1 do.

THE COURT: I am not sure. I have yvet to have
that ccour.

Actually on one occagion it did occur, and it
was -- there iz no use in my telling you what it was, but
there was an odd circumstance that occurred after the plea
was taken, and T knew I had to not accept the agreement.
It was not -- it had nothing to do with a stipulation
between the defendant and counsel. That's what I mean.

MR. CAPLAN: I guese I'm a little confused, your
Honor. If the Court were to not accept the agreement
because of one of these provisions that, at a later point
in time -- I'm --

THE COURT: No, na, one of the provisions —- it
may be independent of the provisions that I feel, as a
matter of law, T can't accept the agreement, which has
nothing te do with your stipulaticons concerning what your
client is going to do and what the potential sentence will

be, based upon vour agresments which have been tailored for

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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this casge. Do you understand?

MR. CAPLAN: Okay.

THE COURT: ﬁo yvou understand?

MR. CAPLAN: VYes, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Now the government's
going to make a recommnendation as to what your sentence
will be, and vou will make a recommendation in consultation
with vour lawyver, but you understand, conce again, that I
hawve complete power and authority to disregard the
government's recommendation for a downward departure, the
government's recommendation for what your sentence should
ba, and vour recommendation and your attorney's
recommendation for what your sentence will be. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZOD: Yes, ma'am, I do.

THE COQURT: If that is all, if those
racommendations are all within the parameters of this
agreement, you will not have an opportunity to withdraw
your plea or the plea agreement. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I understand.

THE CQURT: Mr. Caplan, do yvou know of any valid
defense that would apply, or any other reason why your
client should not plea and plead pursuant to this plea
agreement?

MR. CAPLAN: Your Hener, I den't know of any

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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reason why my client should not plead teo this plea
agresmeaent .

THE COURT: That's all yvou have to say.

MR. CAPLAN: Thank you.

THE CQURT: Okay. Now you need to tell me what
vou did that constitutes the charges in the plea agreement.
Let's start with the elements.

First of all, let me ask the government to set
forth what the elemeﬁts are for each of the offenses.

MR. GROVES: Yes, your Honor. As contained in
the plea agreement, beginning on page 10, the first
count --

THE COURT: Mr. Rizzo and Mr. Caplan, vou may
follow along.

ME. CAPLAN: Certainly.

ME. GROVES: Under Count 1, Conspiracy to Defraud
the United States Government:

First, the government must prove that there
existed a conspiracy, agreement or understanding to defraud
the United States by dishonest and deceitful means for the
purpose of impeding, impairing, cobstructing and defeating
the lawful governmental functions of the United States
Department of Treasury, Internal Revenue Service, in the
ascertainment, computation and collectlion of income taxes

as described in the Indictment, was formed, reached or

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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entered into by two OoF More perzons;

Second, at some point during the existence or
life of the conspiraéy, agreement, or understanding, one of
its members knowingly performed one of the overt acts
charged in the Indictment, in order to further or advance
the purpose of the agreement; and,

Third, at some point during the existence of the
agreement or understanding, the defendant knew the purpose
of the agreement and then deliberately joined in the
congspiracy, agreement, or understanding.

That's as to Count 1. Does the Court wish me to
go on?

THE COURT: Yes.

ME. GROVES: As to Count 2 of the Superseding
Indictment, False Declarations Before a Grand Jury of the
United States:

First, the government must prove that the
defendant testified under cath before a Grand Jury, federal
Grand Jury;

Second, the testimony was false; and,

Third, the defendant knew the testimony was
falze, and material to a matter before the Grand Jury.

Willful Failure to File an Income Tax Return:

First, the tax code or some regulation thereunder

required the defendant to make a tax return reporting gross

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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income, and any deductions and credits for the calendar
vear, in this case, ending December 31lst, 2000;

gecond, defendant failed to make and file the tax
return to the Tnternal Revenue Service on or before April
15th, 2001l; and,

Third, the defendant's failure te file the income
tax return was willful.

mhe fourth count the defendant is pleading guilty
to, which is Count 18 of the Superseding Indictment, is
Aiding and Assisting in the Filing of a False Income Tax
Returrm:

First, the government must prove that the
defendant aided and assisted in the preparation of a tax
return, affidavit, claim or other document;

Second, the return, affidavit, claim or other
document contained a materially false statement; and

Third, the defendant's actions were williul.

THE COURT: You understand that those are the
elements the government would have to prove at the time of
trial?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: &ll right. There is a recitation of
a variety of different facts set forth, starting on page
11, 12, 13, and‘part of 14, which I believe is meant to set

forth all of vour activities that constitute the offenses

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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in this case; ig that correct?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

MR. CAPLAN: Your Honor, just, again, for
clarification, they don't necessarily set forth all of the
activities, because that might have, you know, been very
lengthy, bhut they set forth activities which are sufficient
to constitute guilt to each of the offenses. I'm thinking
particularly of the conspiracy toe defraud.

THE CQURT: Okay. And cdounsel?

ME. GROVES: That's correct, your Ioneor.

THE COURT: 2nd vou have read and essentially
sworn under oath that these facts are accurate?

DEFENDANT JOMN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. CAPLAN: There is one fact and only one fact
where I think I should put something on the record, and
this is the level to which we have been parsing this out,
vour Honor.

Tf your Honor will look at page 12, lines 20
through 23 --

THE COURT: Okay.

ME. CAPLAN: -- with regard to the offshore bank
accounts, I think that this is accurate, however, we did
want to clarify that with regard to the Ansbacher Bank ir

Nassau, which is one of the ofifishore accounts, the Rizz0og

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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intended to open an account there. However, the person
that was supposed to be opening that account apparently
never did and stole some money from them, but they did have
an intent to open that bank account. I just wanted to
elarify that it may never have actually been opened on the
books of the Ansbhacher Bank, but forms were filled out,
purportedly, to do that.

THE COURT: 2All right. Thank you.

Iz that cofrect, Mr. RizzoT?

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZEZQ: Yes, ma'am, it isz.

THE COURT: Aall right. With respect to -- well,
let me ask you this£ Having now read the recitation of
what the factual basis is, did vou, when you committed
those acts and engaged.in those activities that may well be
fulsome later, did you know what you were doing was wrong
and 1llegal?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: The answer is yes.

THE CQURT: All right. To the first count, which
is a violation of 18, United States Code, Section 317,
Conspiracy to --

ME. CAPLAN: 371, your Honor, I'm sorry.

THE COQURT: 371 again. I'm geoing to be saying
that for the rest of my career now.

MR. GROVES: My apologies, vour Honor.

MR. CAPLAN: Mine ag well, vour Honor. I should

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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have caught that also.

THE COURT: That's all right.

-- Conspiracy to Defraud the United States
Government, guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZC: Guilty, your Honor.

THE CQURT: Qkay. and for the violation of 18,
United States Code, Section 1623, Making False Declarations
Before a Grand Jury of the United States, do you plead
guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Guilty, your Honor.

THE COURT: For the violation of Title 26, United
States Code, Section 7203, Willfwl Failure to File a
Federal Income Tax Return, do vou plead guilty or not
guilty?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Guilty, your Honor.

THE CQURT: For a violation of Title 26, United
Statez Code, Sectionm 7206(2), Alding and Ahetting in the
Preparation and Presentation of a False Or Fraudulent
Income Tax Return, do vou plead guilty or not guilty?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Guilty, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now are vou pleading guilty of your
own free will?

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And are you pleading guilty because

vou are guilty?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: 2And is this a woluntary plea?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'aim.

THE COURT: &ll right. Because you have now
acknowledged that you are guilty to all the charges set
forth in the Superseding Indictment --

MR. CAPLAN: Not all of the charges, these
charges.

THE COURT: 2ll the charges get forth in the plea
agreamsent --

MR. CAPLAN: Thank you, your Honor.

THE CQURT: -- represented by the Superseding
tndictment, and vou know your rights and you have waived
them here today voluntarily, and that the counts to which
you are pleading have an adeguate factual bagis, I'm going
to accept your plea today, and you understand, for the
reazons previousgly stated, I could decide not to accept
your plea agreement. If T don't accept your plea agreement
based upon a disagreement with your stipulations with the
government, you will have an opportunity to withdraw. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZzZO: I believe I do, ves.

THE COURT: Well, if wyou have any guestion --

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Can I ask the Court wvery

guickly?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

11

02:49:10F

0Z2:458:21F

02:4%:24F

02:4%:BEL

02:50:041



A3/11/2884 B8: 39 FB35961326 BILL BEMSOM P&GE

L0
11
12
1z
14
15
16
17
1z
18
20
21
22
23
24

25

53

THE COURT: Sure.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: You're saying that vou're
accepting my agreement today -=

THE COQURT: No, I'm accepting only the plea
today.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Plea, okay.

THE COURT: I am taking the plea agreement under
advigement.

DEFENDANT JOHN EIZZ0: Okavy . Thank you.

THE COURT: That plea agreement will be resolved
at the time of sentencing.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Okay.

THE COURT: Now I went throuéh some detalil in
discussing the requirements under this plea agreement arnd
the facters with could affect your sentence, such as
relevant conduct --

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes.

THE COURT: -- in order to agcertain where you
were and where the government was, so there was no
misunderstanding that vou are, to some extent, taking a
risk by going forward and cooperating. It's going to be
the government's hope that you do everything that they ask
vou to do, so that they can come before the Court and move
for a downward departure, and sometimes reguest a certain

type of sentence, but I need to let you know that I may not

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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agree, and that would be a reason for me to not accept the
plea agreement. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: I understand now, thank
you.

THE COURT: Okay. 2also I need to hear from the
probation office before I seﬁ£ence vou, as do you and the
United States Government. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: 211 right. We have this set for
trial?

THE CLERE: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. The trial date is vacated, and
your sentencing will be set six months from today .

THE CLERK: Monday, September 27th at 1:00
o'clock.

THE COURT: In the meantime, the probation office
will prepare that report, and I strongly urge you to
participate with them, and participate honestly and fully,
because vour participation will certainly affect what
sentence I give you. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Once again, can I ask the
Court a cuestion?

THE COURT: Yes.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Can you tell me when the

probation department will do that?

MR. CAPLAN: We'll work that out.

THE COURT: ¥You can work that out, and frankly,

the probation office is not going to be interested in

working on this while you are cooperating.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: That was my question.
THE COURT: Qkay.
DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Thank vyou.

THE COURT: I think I didn't listen well, Sandi;

gix months?

THE CLERK: I gave it September 27th.
THE COURT: September 27th.

All right. You are continued to be remanded to

the custody of the United States Marshal until sentencing.

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Now you understand I didn't go

through the terms of the plea agreement because L'm very

satisfied by the answers and colloguy I've had with your

counsel that yvou fully understand what the nature of vour

cooperation is in terms of what your activities and conduct

will be?

this one?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZOD: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. Then we are finished with

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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MR. GROVES: Yes, we are, your Honor.

MR. CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor. May I approach the
Court with the original?

THE COURT: Yes, thank vou, and it will ke filed,
filed under seal.

MR. GROVES: No, your Honor, we would ask that it
not be filed under deal.

THE CQURT: ¥You're right, this should not be
filed under seal, and the cocpefation does not need to be
redacted?

ME. GROVES: That's correct, vour Honor.

THE COURT: 24l1l right. Then we are £till in open
court, unsealed.

Mrs. Rizzo.

All right. Please set forth vour full name for
the record. |

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZD: Cargol Ann Rizzo.

THE COURT: Ms. Fredlund, would you please place
her under cath.

THE CLERX: Raise your right hand.

Do yvou sweary or affirm that the testimony you're
about to give the Court in the matter now pending before it
ghall be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the
truth?

DEFENDANT CARCL RIZZO: Yes.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE CLEREK: Thank vou.

THE COURT:. Now vou are under cath. Do you
understand that if you make any false statements, that vour
false statements could be used against you in a separate
proceeding for making false statements or for perjury?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes.

THE COURT: All right. Now how old are you?

DEFENDANT CARQOL RIZZ0O: Fifty-eight

THE COURT: And how far did you go in school?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: I graduated high school.

THE COURT: And have you ever been employed, and
if so, when was the most recent employment, cther than
anyvthing that relates to the criminal charges?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: I worked for the La Bello
& La Bello law firm as a secretary, and that was
approximately five vears ago.

THE COURT: Okay. Have vou recently been under
the care or are you rnow under the care of a doctor or
neyvchiatrist?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ4: No, 1'm not.

THE COURT: lAnd have you ever been treated or
hospitalized for any kind of mental or emotional disorder,
or for an addiction?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: No, ma'am.

THE COURT: Hawve wou had any medicine, pills or

TUNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

la: 48 FB35961326 BILL BEMSOM P&cGE B3

02:54:20F

02:54:38%

02:54:55F

02:55:00F

02:55:+19%



B3/85/ 2884

10
11
12
L3
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

58

alcoheol in the last 24 hours?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Two Tvlenol Extra
Strength.

THE COURT: Okay. And those do not affect yvour
cogrnitive ability?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO; No, ma'am.

THE CQURT: 21l right. Do either of the
defendants -- or either counsel have any reason to believe
that Mrs. Rizzo is not competent to enter an informed pleav

MR. CAPLAN: No reason whatsosver, your Honor.

ME. GROVES: No reason whatscoever, your Honor.

THE CQURT: Qkay. 2aAnd you do wish to plead
gullty pursuant to the plea agreement; correct?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZD: Yes.

THE COURT: Hawve you had an a full opportunity to
talk with Mr. Caplan about the consequences of entering
inteo this plea agreement?

DEFENDANT CARCD RIZZO: Yeg, I have.

THE COURT: And are you satigfied with his
representation of you?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: He's done a good job for youtd

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yes, ma'al.

THE COURT: All right. Now I find, based upon

vour answers and the certifications from counsel, that you

UNITED STATEZ DISTRICT COURT
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are fully informed to enter a pléa.

Now again, vyou've heard me tell your husband
this, and that is that I need to ask you a variety of
gquestions, in order to assure myself that you understand
what vou're doing when you plead gulilty, and vou understand
the termg of this plea agreement. I will need to advise
vou of the various rights you are going to have to give up
in pleading guilty. If yoﬁ have any qQuestions as I
proceed, please let me know or talk with Mr. Caplan. Will
vou do that? |

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Now T expect that yvou believe that
there is some bEnefit for vour pleading guilty, pursuant to
this agreement?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZD: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: But yvou understand that you cannot
plead guilty based upon a benefit. You can only plead
guilty if you are guilty. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yez, ma'am.

THE COURT: So you have to set aside any benefit
that vou seek.

There are certalin congtitutional and statutory
rights that you have. I'm going to tell you them one at a
time. If yvou have any questions, please ask me.

You are entitled to a speedy trial befors a jury,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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a jury chosen from this district. Do vou understand?

DEFENDANT‘CAROL RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: You would be presumed innocent, and
that means that you would not have to prove your Iinnocence.
Tt would be the government's complete obligation to prove
you innocent beyond a reasonable doubt. Do you understand?

MR. CAPLAN: Guilty.

THE CQURT: Prove you guilty. You would hope
that they would prove vou innocent.

MR. CAPLAN: I would, too, your Honor.

THE CQURT: 211 right. So we can just stop there
and -- that was probably a surprise that you enjoyed. I'm
sorry I have to change that.

MR. CAPLAN: I apologi=ze.

THE COURT: That's okay. The government would
have to prove yvou guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Do yvou
underatand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: gnd the jury would have Lo agree
unanimously that vou were guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.
Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROQL RIZZ0O: Yes, ma'am.

THE CQURT: At that trial vou would be entitled
to have an attorney represent you, and 1f you couldn’'t

afferd an attorney, one would be appointed for you free of

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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cogt. Do yvou understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZC: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: And at the trial vou would be able to
confront the witnesseg, and yaur‘attorney could cross-
examine them, and you could <all vour own witnesses on your
behalf, but there wouid be no obligation for veou to do so
because you would not have to prove yourself innocent. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT CARQOL RIZZ0: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Now you could testify at the trial,
but that's only 1f vou chose to. No one could force you to
testify. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: Yeg, ma'am.

THE COURT: Now did vou understand =211 of those
rights?

DEFENDANT  CAROL RIZZO: Yes, I did.

THE COURT: Do you have any guestions qf me?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO; No, I don't.

THE COURT: Now because I'll have to ask you what
vou did, in order to determine whether or not you are
guilty of the offenses to which you wish to plead, you will
have to incriminate yourself, and that means you will have
to waive yvour right to incriminate yvourself -- mot
incriminate yvourself. Are vou willing to waive your right

not te inceriminate yvourself?

UNITED STATEE DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT CAROL RIEZED: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: All right. Now there are many
charges in the Indictment, but yvou are pleading to the
following charges:

First of all, a wviolation of Title 18, Tmited
States Code, Section 371, Consgpiracy to Defraud the United
States, which carries a maximum priscon -- imprisonment term
of five years; a 250,000 fine, or both; and a three-year
period of supervised releasgse. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes.

THE COURT: You are also pleading to a viclation
of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7203, Willful
Failure to File a Federal Income Tax Return, a misdemeanor
offenze. Do vou understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZ0: Yes.

THE COURT: That's punishable by a maximum fine
of £250,000 and an imprisonment texrm of not to exceed one
vear. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CARCL RIZZ0O: Yes, your Homnor.

THE CQURT: And you understand that those maximum
terms are terms that T can impose consecutively, which
means one after the other., Do yvou understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: So the maximum amount of your

sentence could bhe =ix wears.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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MR. CAPLAN: Your Honor, may I get some water for
Mrs. Rizzo for a moment?

THE COURT: ©Ch, sure.

ME. CAPLAﬁ: Thank vou.

Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: There iz alszso & reguirement that I
impose a special assessment, and that special assessment is
in the amount of §125.

DEFENDANTlCARDL RIZZ0O: Yes, vour Honor.

THE CQURT: I'm not sure that I said that to
Mr. Rizzo.

MR. GROVES: I don't recall it, your Honor.

MR. CAPLAN: I don't either, but I did explain
that to Mr. Rizzo; that there was a specilal assessment that
would have to be paid before sentencing.

THE COURT: Okay. He is still here, and
Mr. Rizzo, just to make sure you understand, you have —- I
have an obligation at the timé of sentencing to, without
any discretion, impose a special assessment for each of the
crimas to which vou are pleading gullty. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0: Yes, ma‘'am, I do.

THE COURT: And that total amount would be,

Mr. Groveg?

ME. CGROVES: Three hundred twenty-five dollars,

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Yoy Honor.

MR. CAPLAN: How much?

THE COURT: Three hundred twenty-five dollars.
Do you understand?

MR. CAPLAN: One hundred twenty-five each?

MR. GROVES: No, your Honor,

THE CQURT: Total. |

MR. GROVES: It's 325 total --

THE COURT: Total.

ME. GROVES: -- because he's pleading te three
felonies and one misdemeanor.

MR. CAPLAN: Okay. Right.

THE COURT: Right. It's $325 total, and it can't

e leszs than that. That would be the amcount. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT JOHIN RIZZO: Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT: Okay. You understand, then, or
having understeod that, will that in any way change your
decision to plead guilty as vou have?

DEFENDANT JOHN RIZZ0Q: CQh, no.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. CAPLAN: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right., I'm going to ask the
government to set forth the elements of the offenses to

which Mrs. Rizzeo is going to plead guilty.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

18

03:01:51p

02:01:55F

03:02:06F

D3:02:15F

03:02:27F




B3/85/ 2884

Ve

n 52} i

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
272
23
24

25

la: 48 7Ea859619268 EILL BEMSOM PAGE

65

MR. GROVES: As contained on page 10 of the plea
agreement, if this were to proéeed teo triel, the United
States would have to prove bevond z reasonable doubt:

Firgt, under Conspiracy to Defraud the United
States, that there existed a conspiracy, agreement or
undarstanding to defraud the United Stateg by dishonest
or deceitful -- and deceitful means, for the purpose of
impeding, impairing, cbhstructing and defeating the lawful
governmental functions of the United States Department of
Treasury, Internal Revenue Service, in the ascertainment,
computation and collection of income taxes as described in
the Indictment, was férmed, reached or entered into by two
or more persons;

Sacond, at gome point during the exisgtence or
life of the conspiracy, agreement, or understanding, one of
its members --

THE REPORTER: Mr. Groves, can you start with
"second, " pleage.

MR. GROVES: Yes.

Second, at some point during the existence or
life of the conspiracy, agreement or understanding, one of
itz members knowingly performed one of the overt acts
charged in the Indictment, in order to further advance the
purpose of the agreement.; and,

Third, at zome time during the existence of the

UNLITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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agreement or understanding, the defendant knew the purpose
of the agreement and then deliberately joined in the
congpiracy, agreement or understanding.

The second charge, Count 12 of the Superseding
Indictment, the United States would have To prove, under
Willful Failure to File an Income Tax Return:

First, that the tax code or some regulation
thereunder reguired the defendant to make a tax return
reporting gross income, and any deductions and credits, in
this case for the calendar vear ending December 31st, 2000;

Second, the defendant failed to make and file the
tax return to the Internal Revenue Service on or before
April 15th, 2001; and,

Third, the defendant's failure te £file the income
tax return wasg willful.

THE COQURT: All right. Mrs. Rizzo, did you
understand all the elements that have been set forth by
Mr. Groves?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: You understand it would be the
obligation of the government to prove all of those elements
beyond a reasonable doubt at trial?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZQ: Yeag, vyour Honor.

THE COURT: &A1l right. And I presume you

discussed those elements with Mr. Caplan?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZFO: Yaa, yvour Honor.

THE COQURT: DNow let me tell you something about
supervised relsase:

Supervisged releage ig always concurrent, and it's
up to three years of supervised release. During that time
vou would bhe on restriction, and if you wiolated the
restrictionsg, then vou would be back in court for a
violation of vour supervised release, and I could sentence
you up to two yvears in prisomn. Do you undersgtand?

DEFENDANT CARQOL RIZZO: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And vou understand that I have to
order you to pay a fine, the cost of probation or
supervision and incarceration and reztitution, unless I
find that vou do not have the ability te pay. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Now I must follow the
sentencing guidelines. You understand that?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yes, vyour Honor.

THE COURT: And you'wve talked te Mr., Caplan about
those guidelines®?

DEFENDANT CARCL RIZFED: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: And we have talked here today about
what is potentially the maximim sentence, what is

potentially the mamzimum guidelines. You understand that

UNITED S8TATES DISTRICT COURT
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the probation office first assesses and recommends what
they believe the gulidelines are. Do you understand that?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, your Honor.

THE CQURT: You and Mr. Caplan and Mr. Groves
will have an opportunity to reﬁiew that report, object to
it, and offex your'belief on what your guidelines should
be.

DEFENDANT CARCL RIZZO: Yes, your Honor.

THE CQURT: All right. Now vou understand also
that if the guidelines are still within the six years, that
I can depart above thoge guidelines, if I find a basis to
do so under the law®

DEFENDANT‘CARDL RIZZ0: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: I .can also depart below those
gquidelines if I find a kasisz to do so under the law.

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, your Homnor.

THE COURT: But any estimate -- and Mr. Ceaplan
will now get forth for me whether or not he has made an
estimate as to what your zentence or guideline range will
bha.

MR. CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor. I told Mrs. Rizzo
that while the maximum would be the sgix years, that I
axpected, under the guideiines, her sentencing range,
without a motion for substantial assistance downward

departure, would be in the neighborhood of about three

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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vears, yYour Honor.

THE COURT: 2and veou understand that was an
egtimate?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: Yes, vyour Honor.

THE COURT: You still could receive a sentence of
up to 8ix vears.

DEFENDANT CARCL RIZZOD: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Now I have a copy of the
plea agreement. Do you have the original in front of you?

MR. CAPLAN: VYeg, yvour Honor, I do.

THE COURT: And Mrz. Rizzo, did you sign the
agreement?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yes, I &id, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now did vyvou read it before vou zigned
it?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, I did.

THE CQURT: And did wyou discuss it with vour
attorney before yvou signed it?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZIO: Yeg, your Honor.

THE COURT: bo vou fully understand this plea
agreement?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: Yes, your Honor.

THE CQURT: Do you understand it to ke your
complete agreement with the United States Government?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: Yesz, your Honor.

UNITED STATES LISTRICT CQURT
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THE CQURT: 21l right. ¥You can --

MR. CAPLAN: May I also say, your Heonor, that
Mrs. Rizzo participated ecually with Mr. Rizzo in terms of
the negotiation of this plea agreement and the line-hy-line
addregsing of it all, so she is totally familiar.

THE COURT: Qkay. Is that correct, Mrs. R1zzo?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yesg, it 1s, your Honor.

THE CDURT:l All right. Now on page 8 there are
special provisions about what rights you have to ralse
igsues on appeal. Essentially it says you have no rxights
in the first paragraph, but that is conditioned upon what
ig contained in the -- when I gay "first paragraph," I mean
the first sentence of the first paragraph, and that's
conditioned upon what is contained in the remainder of this
gection. It says you have the right to challenge and
appeal the guideline computations as to the tax loss,
grouping of offenses, role in the offenses, and such
challenge and appeal are not & breach of the agreement. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL, RIEZZO: Yez, I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: The United States Government can
appeal any portion of the agreement -- or of the sentencing
or thisz agreement, if there iz a basis to do go. Do you
understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yes, wyour Honor.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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THE COURT: 2nd vou have waived here the right teo
an award of attornEy;s fees, pursuant to the public law,
which is set forth in this agreement; is that correct?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: Yeg, wvour Honor.

THE COURT: 21l right. 8o you know that if T
accept the terms of this agreement, as you have worked them
out feor the United States Government or with the
government, you will have no right te withdraw from the
plea or the plea agreement. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, vour Honor.

THE COURT: But if I do not accept the portions
af the agreement that veou have entered inteo with the United
States Government, vou will have a right te appeal.

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZ0Q: Yes, vyour Honor.

TEE CQURT: Excuse me, toe withdraw.

There are narrow circumstances upon which I can
determine not Lo accept the plea, not to accept the plea
agreement, which have nothing te do with the stipulations.
Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Mr. Caplan, do you know
of anv valid defense that would apply in thig case, or any
reason why your client should not plead guilty?

ME. CAPLAN: I certainly don't know of any reason

why szhe should not plead guilty. Again, if we had to go to

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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1| trial, we could produce colorable defenses, but...
2 THE CQURT: OQkay. Thank you.
3 Now I'm going to agk vou what you did, as I said

4| before, and here vou sre walving expressly vour right not
5| te inceriminate yourself. | 03:10:48F
2 Now on page 10, 11, and 12 there are a variety of
7] facts which are set forth which constitute the two

gl wviclations to which vou are pleading; ig that correct?

9 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0O: Yes, your Honor.

10 MR. CAPLAN: Again, vour Honor, if I may., I 03:11:04P
11| apolegize for interrupting, but it's with the same caveat
12| as to that bank in the Bahamas, the Ansbacher Bank, which
13| ig at the top of page 12, line 3. I would make the same

14| representaticn there; that is, that they intended to open

15| an account there, but it never got opened. 03:11:37P
1& THE COURT: Okay. Thank wvou.

17 Is that correct?

18 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, it is, your Honor.

19 THE COURT: &all right. Now when yvou committed

20! these acts and engaged in this conduct, did you know what 03:11:49F

21| wvou were doing was wrong and illegal-?

22 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZEZD: Yes, your Honor.

23 THE COURT: How do you plead to Conspiracy to

24| Defraud the United gtates, as set forth in the Superseding

2E Indictment? G3:12:02E

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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1 DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZ0: Guilty.

2 THE COURT: How do you plead to Willful Failure

3| to File an Income Tax Return, as set forth in the

4| sSuperseding Indictment?

5 DEFENDANT CaR0OL RIZZ(O: Guilty, your Honor. 03:12:11F
& THE COURT: Do vou need some more water?

7 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yeah, I have a dry spot

81 in my throat.
9 MR. CAPIAN: I'll get vou some more.
10 THE COUERT: Now are you pleading guilty because 03%:12:31F

11| yvou are guilty?

12 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZEZ(Q: Yes, your Honor.

13 THE COURT: And are yvou doing so voluntarily?

14 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZEZQ: Yes, your Honor.

15 THE COURT: ©Of vour own free will? 03:12:37F
16 DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZCO: Yes, youry Honor.

17 THE COURT: Now because you have acknowledged

18| that you are guilty as charged in these counts, and you
15| have expressed that you know your rights and you have
20| woluntarily waived thosge rights, and that there iz an 03:12:51%
21| esgzential factual bagis for each of the charges, I'm going
22| to accept your plea, the plea agreement, and whether or not
231 I will accept that plea agreement iz deferred for six

24| months, when vour sentencing will occuxr. At that time I

25| will have aszcertained, based upon all the information 02:13:121

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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presented to me by you, Mr. Caplan, Mr. Groves and the
probation office, whether or not I should accept the plea
agreemernt. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, vyour Honor.

THE COURT: And you will not hawve a right to
withdraw if T accept the plea agreement based upon the
terms you have reachéd with the United States Government.
Do yvou understand?

DEPFENDANT CAROL RIZZ0: Yes, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. The date for the trial is
vacated, and the probation office is going to prepare the
presentence report. It will likely not be prepared until
there is a date certain set for trial. We are geing to —-
excuse me, for the sentencing. We are going to defer that
sentencing, pursuant to the plea agreement, for six months,
and the sentencing wili occur on whakt date?

THE CLERK: Septenber 27th at 1:00 o'clock.

THE COURT: September 27th at 1:00 o'clock.

211 right. ©Now we will need to -=- yes?

MR. CAPLAN: I was just going to approach the
hench with the plea.

THE COURT: Yeg, you can.

We will undertake the question of whether or not
Mrs. Rizzo should be released.

ME. GROVES: If the Court might, there ig just

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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one other issgue I wanted to put on the record, so there
ign't a later issue.

On January l4th, when we were before Magistrate
Sitver at the arraignment on the Superseding, there was a
hearing and a full inquiry of keth defendants as to the
joint representation by Mr. Caplan. I Jjust wanted that to
be clear.

THE COQURT: I was thinking about raising that,
and I'm glad that vou told me that. From the beginning of
this rcase, knowing what's contained in the Indictment, I
did not believe that there was any problem, particularly
because both of them have agreed to cooperate.

Let me ask Mr. Rizzo and Mra. Rizzo, do you
recall the colloguy vou had with Judge Sitver --

ME. CAPLAN: Do you remember'the -—

THE COURT: =-- about whether or not --

MR. CAPLAN: -- conflict of interest?

DEFENDANT CAROL EIZZO: Qnh, ves, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. If there was a conflict, or a
potential conflict, that you voluntarily waived it and have
no problem or issue with Mr. Rizzo -- with Mr. Caplan
representing you?

DEFENDANT CARGL RIZZ0O: No, there ig no problem,
your Honor.

THE COURT: And Mr. Rizzo, the same?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

A1

03:14:34PF

03:14:55P

03:15:=14F

03:15:24F

03:15:38



B3/85/ 2884

10
11
12
13
14
15
1la
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

18:54 7Ea859619268 EILL BEMSOM PAGE

76

DEFENDANT JOEN RIZZO: No problem.

THE COURT: All right. Now we will undertake the
issue of whether or not Mrs. Rizzo should be released.

I have received the motion for release and also
the evaluation made by pretrial services, and that is
Mr ., Mel Hernandez. Have you both received that recent
report?

MRE. CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor, and we've reviewed

MR. GROVES: Yesg, we have, your Honor.

THE COURT: &4ll right. I have some concerns. I
am inclined te alleow Mrs. Rizzo to be released on her own
recognizance, but with substantial limitations, and that is
that she must be in home confinement with electronic
monitoring, to be determined by the probation office, and
that you are to report to the prétrial services office as
directed. They will tell you, and it is always your
obligation to make sure that you hawve reported, even if
somebody iz not there. Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yeg, I do, vour Honor.

TEE CQURT: And you are going teo be released to
the third party custody of John Ross Rizzo and Marion
Rizzo, who I believe are yvour mother and father-in-law, who
are in the ¢ourtroom?

MR. CAPLAN: Yes, your Honor.

TNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Let me ack them, and they can merely nod their

77

heads, but do you agree to this third-party custeody, which

means that essentially vou have some obligations to insure

that she is in compliance with the law, and in particular,
that she will appear at all necessary proceedings?

MR. JOEN ROSS RIZZO: We do.

THE COURT: And you do?

MRS. MARION RIZZO: Yes,

THE COURT: All right. You are not to travel
outside of Arizona unless the Court gives you permission.
Do you understand?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, I do.

THE COURT: A4And you are not to —- you shall
refrain from the possession of a firearm, destructive
device, or any other dangerous weapon or ammunition. Do
yvou understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: Yeg, your Honor.

THE COQURT: And you are to seek and maintain
employment, and yvou are to do so immediately.

Now obviously vou can't be employed when you're
on house arrest and you are electronically monitored, but
the probation office will work that out for you. Do you

understand?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, your Honor.

THEE CQURT: And'you -—

MR. CAFLAN: Your Homor -—-

THE COURT: And vou —-

MR. CAPLAN: I'm sorry, may I just interrupt?

Mr. Rizzo wanted to ask me & question for just & moment?

THE CQURT: Sure.

MR. CAPLAN: Thank vou.

MER. GROVES: There is one caveat to that, vour
Honor. We would obviously ask that the employment not have
anything to de with the nature of what was contained in the
Indictment, which ig Millennium Publishing, which is the
entity in which they earned --

THE COURT: Which publishing?

ME. GROVES: Millennium Publishing, which is the
entity that they were invoelwed in during that time.

MR. CAPLAN: I'm sorry, could yvou --

THE COURT: Ig£ that an ongoing business?

MR. GROVES: At this point no, your Honor. Since
the defendants have been incarcerated, not to our
knowledge. However, if the release is being made, then
clearly that may happen, and we're trying to prevent that.

THE COURT: All right. That will be made clear
to the probation office; that you are not to have any type

of emplovment or any type of activities in connection with

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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Millennium --

MR. GROVES: Publishing.

THE COQURT: -- Publishing Company.

MR. GROVES: We would also ask that she have no
employment or invelvement with any anti-tax or tax
protester type of organization, or that that would not be
the nature of the employment.

MR. CAPLAN: We certainly have no problem with
that, your Honor.

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: No problem.

THE COURT: ‘Dkay. And you are to surrender your
pasgport. Do you have & passport?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: No, wour Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. And vou are not to obtain
another one during the pendency of these proceedings. Do
vou understand?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: I understand.

THE CQURT: Now there are some standard
requirements that you must abide by, and those are set
forth in General Order 99-9 in a document. You will need
to read all of those reguirements, the standard
requirements, and then sign the document that you agree to
be -- to comply with them. If you have any qguestion,

Mr. Caplan will answer that gquestion, or the probation

officer will answer that question. Do you understand?

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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DEFENDANT CARQL RIFZO: Yes, I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. We do not have a probation
officer here today, and go release will not occur todav.

T+ will occur only after the probation officer has had an
opportunity to discuss with you the terms of the -- of wyour
releage, and also that you sign the release.

Now if this can ke a;complished before the end of
the day, that's fine with me. If it cannot, then vou will
heve to be here tomorrow, and we will take care of it at
that time.

MR. CAPLAN: Your Honer, if I may, I believe --
and we've spoken with Mr. Hernandez -- that he has
everything ready to go, including the electromic monitoring
bracelet to be affixed today, with the Court's permission.

THE COURT: Okay. I have no problem, if it can
be done today, but in talking to Mr. Hernandez --

MR. CAPLAN: Oh, I'm soxry. Mavbe I didn't
understand --

THEE CQURT: -- he's not here today, and that's
the problem. I understand he is attemnding to other
matters. You can call him, and I have no disagreement with
or objection to having it accomplished today, but T have
every objection to Mrs. Rizzo being released without that
process occurring, so there is no misgunderstanding about

the obligations she has.
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ME . CAFLAN: All right. There is one other --
two other matters just briefly, if I may, vour Honor.

First is could we strike from the record the
specific address where Mrs. Rizzo iz residing, so that
woeuldn't be in the public record?

THE COURT: Yes, yes, we will. We will strike it
from the record. That will be under seal. It will not be
styricken from the pretrial services report.

MR. CAPLAN: No, I understand that, of course.

THE COURT: Those are confidential anyway.

All right.‘ Are there any other conditions that
rhe United States Government believes should be complied
with?

ME. GROVES: None that we'we aware of, your
Honor .

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. CAPLAN: T just had two guestions, your
Honor, if I may.

THE CQURT: Yes.

MR. CAPLAN: First of all, to clarify, while it
ig house arrest, may she leave the residence with the prior
permigsion of the pretrial serxrvices officer?

THE COQURT: Probation, ves, and the other thing
i5 this: There is another conditicn, which I'm sure the

government believes iz necessary, and that is that as &

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

ar

03:32:2285

03:22:35R

03:22:47P

03:22:8B1F

03:23:08:



B3/85/ 2884

s ~J 2]

L0
11
12
13
14
15
1o
17
13
15
20
21
22
23
24

25

16:54 FB35961326 BILL BEMSOM P&GE

82

part of your agreement, you are to coopearate. Do vou
understand?

DEFENDAMNT CAROL RIZZO: Yeg, your Honor.

THE COURT: There will have to be some
interfacing with the United States Government, in order for
you to conduct your cooperation and éngage in the
activities that they need you to engage in, in order to
fulfill that portion of the agreement. Do you understand
that?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, I do, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now in that sense, Mr. Groves,
pretrial services, if yvou wish her to do something that is
really contrary to the agreement she has, then vou take the
a risk with your agents in insuring that she is within the
parameters of the law and is not engaging in anything
illegal.

MR. GROVES: If I may inquire, your Honmor, with
respect to potential travel outgide of the district, would
the Court wish us to come to the Court to get specific
permiggion?

THE COURT: Every time that there is going to be
some superseding by the govermment of the pretrial services
monitoring of her while she's on release, you will have to
come to the Court, you will have to bring your agents that

will explain and persuade the Court that they will monitor

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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her, to insure that there are no vielations, to insure that
she will be here for all proceedings and that there is no
possibility of escape. In that way the responsgibilities
are shifted to the United States Government, as opposed to
being maintained with pretrial services.

ME. GROVES: Thank you, your HONnor.

THE COURT: One other thing, before I forget:
Mrs. Rizzo, you understand and have read what your
cooperation obligations are?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZO: Yes, I have, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you have any guestion about them?

DEFENDANT CARQL RIZZO: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: vYeu understand then, too, 1f you
breach them, what the consecguences are?

DEFENDANT CAROL RIZZQ: Yeg, your Honor.

ME. CAPLAN: Your Honor, the other thing is, and
T don't know whether it's within the provisions that the
pretrial services cfficer may give or not, but I don't
believe that the government has any objection to Mrs. Rizzo
visiting Mr. Rizzo at the CCA facility, obviously with the
prior permission of prétrial sarvices. Would that be all
right with the Court?

THE COURT: I have no problem, unless pretrial
services does. Sometimes it's difficult to accomplish

that, and that's the problem. There is also security

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

a3

03:25:04F

03:25:20F

03:25:27F

03:25:411

03:26:02



B3/85/ 2884

9]

o] ~J] 2]

1@
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
18
20
21
22
23
24

25

16:54 FB35961326 BILL BEMSOM P&GE

84

issues, but I have no cbjection to that.

MR. CAPLAN: .Thank vyou, your Honor.

MR. GROVES: 2And we have no objection either, but
it will, once again, require travel ocutgide of Maricopa
County, I believe, to Pinal County.

THE COURT: I said she merely needed to stay in
the state, but any travel at all is travel that needs Lo be
approved by the probation office. If they have some
gquestion about it, they bring it to my attention. I'm not
anticipating any problems today.

MR. CAPLAN: Do I -- I'm sorry, do I need to be
presant with Mrs. Rizzo tomorrow, Or can ghe be released,
if that's when it is, directly from the courthouse?

THE COURT: She can be released. You do not need
to be here, because we're not sending her to a halfway
house. She is released to her third-party custodians, and
we call it bag and baggage. She comes here with all of her
possegsions and she is releaged, and I don't even have to
be here. It can be done on the second floor with the
marshals.

ME. CAPLAN: And I'm sorry again, your Honor, to
bother vou with these details, but just so I would know, if
she's not going to be released today, which it looks like
she's not going to be, she's going to be brought in

romorrow, the Court's having her returned tomorrow, and

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
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then I cshould speak with Mr. Yernandez to facilitate the
release?

THE COURT: Well, what happens is this: There is
no reasocn why she needs to be released in open court,
unleszs the margshals say otherwise, Mr. Hernandez, however,
needs to be fully satisfied that she understands all the
conditions, and you've probably seen the form. It's a
standard fLorm.

ME. CAPLAN: Yeg, sure.

THE COURT: She has to sign it, and then once he
gives permigsion, based upon my delegating to him that
responsibility, she can be released, because I have already
ordered, as of today, that she could be releaged if
Mr . Hernandez was Lhere.

MR. GROVES: If I might, your Honox, I think the
concern is that Mr. Capian ig from San Francisco. His
concern, I think, is also td make sure theaet if it doesn’'t
happen today, that she is actually produced back here to
the courthouse.

THE COURT: Vves, we will. We'll bring her back;
okay?

Mr. Hernandez will be advised of what has
happened here today. You may be able to reach him, too; he
just told me that he had a variety of different things that

he had that were emergencies, but he 2till might be

UNITED STATES DISTRICT CQURT
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available so that this can be accomplished teoday, and we

will not have to bring back Mrs. Rizzo tomorrow. I can't

insure that.
MR.
THE
MR.

Honor.

THE
MR.
THE
MR.
THE
ME..
record.

THE

CAPTAN:
COURT:

CADPLAN:

GROVES:
COURT!:
GROVES:
CLERK:
CAPLAN:
COURT':

CAPLAN:

COURT:

Okay .
A1l right. Anything else?

No. Thank you very much, your

Nothing further, your Honor.
Thig matter is adjourned.
Thank vou, your Honor.
All rise.

Your Heonoxr.
Yes.

This deesn't have to be on the

oh, I just want to make the important

atatement that I have found, based upon the evidence that

has been pregented to me, that as of this time Mrs. Rizzo

is not a danger to the community, nor ig she a flight risk.

all

right.

This matter is adjourned.

(The proceedings adjournsd 2at 3:29 p.m.)
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I, David M. Lee, CSR 9543, RMR, CRR, Official
Court Reporter, hereby certify that pursuant to Section
733, Title 28, United States Code, that the foregoing is a
rvue and correct tramnscript of the stenographically

recorded proceedings in the above matter.

Signed this 27th day of February, =2004.

Nl e

Da;}& M. Lee, CSR 9543, RMR, CRR
official Court Reporter
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